RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Aug 04, 2014, 4:32 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

45880-2

NO. 89884-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL AMES,

Appellant,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, BY AND THROUGH, PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY MARK LINDQUIST,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

APPELLANT MICHAEL AMES' OPENING BRIEF

135

JOAN K. MELL, WSBA #21319
Attorney for Appellant Michael Ames
III BRANCHES LAW, PLLC
1033 Regents Blvd. Ste. 101
Fircrest, WA 98466
joan@3brancheslaw.com
253-566-2510 ph
281-664-4643 fx

I. INTRODUCTION

Seeking direct review, Det. Mike Ames' petitions for declaratory relief and a writ of prohibition. He requests a name-clearing hearing. He relies upon his status as a represented civil servant for whom the County extends various due process protections, typically through internal affairs policies and procedures. Pierce County's Prosecutor Mark Lindquist adopted a potential impeachment policy ("PIE") without the equivalent procedural due process promises contained in Sheriff's department policies and procedures. Using the Prosecutor's PIE policy, the Pierce County Prosecutor's Office has labeled Det. Ames a "Brady" officer based on an unfounded whistleblower investigation report involving the Prosecutor and the declaration of a single civil deputy prosecutor who has since revised his testimony in a subsequent declaration.

The prosecutors assembled these materials with a cover letter they give criminal defense attorneys in all cases where Det. Ames may be called to testify. The "Brady" letter characterizes the documents as potential impeachment evidence. These documents are not secret, they are public records derived from a couple different cases. Det. Ames reported his concerns about the Prosecutor abusing the power of the Pierce County Prosecutor's office, which became the subject of a whistleblower investigation report referred to as the Coopersmith Report. At a later date, Det. Ames blew the whistle on deputy prosecutors withholding

exculpatory evidence in related criminal and civil proceedings involving a local citizen, Lynn Dalsing. The "Brady" determination followed in close proximity to Ames revealing this exculpatory evidence in the civil *Dalsing* case over the objections of the prosecutor's office. The exculpatory evidence favored Dalsing, but disfavored certain deputies and exposed the prosecutor's office to civil liability. On a motion in the case, the lead civil deputy declared Ames dishonest in a declaration he offered into the record. Then the prosecutor's office used this deputy's declaration and the Coopersmith report as PIE. The prosecutor's office is conflicted, it wants Ames credible in criminal cases, and it wants to discredit him in *Dalsing* to protect the prosecutors' exposure to civil liability. When the prosecutors compiled these documents together with a cover letter and started disseminating them as PIE, Det. Ames petitioned for relief.

The Prosecutor claims his deputies cannot be challenged over their use of the "Brady" label, notwithstanding the effects that a false label as a "Brady" officer has on a detective's career and reputation. They claim any judicial restraint compromises the rights of criminal defendants, which they now contend are superior to the rights of detectives like Mike Ames. They also say prosecutors have absolute discretion to include knowingly false accusations of dishonesty to disseminate for retaliatory reasons. Their actions offend the very "Brady" obligations they rely upon to deny Ames any relief. While claiming to protect justice for criminal

defendants, they are undermining the criminal justice system by destroying the credibility of a detective simply to discredit the detective who revealed the prosecutor's office's own decision to withhold exculpatory evidence. At the core of the Prosecutor's attack on Ames is the fact that Ames revealed an e-mail from a Pierce County deputy prosecutor that explicitly recognized the duty to turn over exculpatory material, followed by the prosecutors failure to turn that information over for nearly two years. Their hypocrisy is disturbing. This Court's review is needed to restore the balance between the prosecutor's office and the sheriff's department and to clarify "Brady" obligations.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred when it dismissed Det. Ames' petition on a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.
- 2. The trial court erred when it decided the public participation exception for action brought by a prosecuting attorney was not applicable and that the prosecutor's motion was therefore not frivolous.
- 3. The trial court erred when it decided the 2010 statute on public participation lawsuits was constitutional.
- B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error No. 1 Order of Dismissal

(Declaratory Action)

1. May a detective clear his good name in a declaratory action?

- a. Does Superior Court have jurisdiction to clear a detective's good name in a declaratory action?
- b. Did Det. Ames present a justiciable controversy?
- c. Did Det. Ames present a claim of public interest where "justiciability" is not needed?
- d. Does the prosecutor's PIE policy and practices interfere with Det. Ames free speech rights and the due process he is promised as a represented civil servant?
 - (i) Does a County Sheriff's Department detective have a property interest in the work he performs or a liberty interest in his good name?
 - (ii) Does a County Sheriff's detective have the right to report governmental misconduct without fear of reprisal by being labeled a "Brady" officer?
 - (iii) Does a County Sheriff's detective have the right to seek redress, including independent representation where the County has an apparent conflict without risk of retaliation?

(Writ of Prohibition)

- 2. Does a prosecutor act outside his discretionary authority when creating a false statement of dishonesty the office then disseminates as "Brady" material?
- 3. May the prosecutor label an unfounded whistleblower investigator's report "Brady" material?
- 4. Does a criminal defendant have superior rights to litigate whether documents are exculpatory or impeaching, and material in every case? Or, may a detective ask Superior Court to issue a declaratory order on adjudicated facts that eliminates the risk of inconsistent determinations from a

- prosecutor, judge, or jury reaching their own conclusions on a case by case basis?
- 5. Did the Prosecutor make any other avenue of relief available to Det. Ames?
- C. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error No. 2 & 3 Order on Special Motion to Strike
 - 1. Is this action exempt from public participation protection under RCW 4.24.525(3)?
 - 2. Does RCW 4.24.525 violate the constitution, specifically Art. II § 37 because the UDJA and Writs of Prohibition were not cross referenced when enacted?

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

On September 18th, 2013, Det. Ames received a letter from the prosecutor's office labeling him a "Brady" officer under the prosecutor's new PIE policy. CP 141. The letter claims PIE "exists", and generally identifies the PIE as some select declarations from the *Dalsing* case.¹ The letter identifies one other document, a whistleblower investigation report.²

Dalsing Declarations Not PIE

The *Dalsing* case involves criminal and civil proceedings that are already before this Court on Pierce County's motion for discretionary review.³ The News Tribune ran a prolific story explaining the case and its

¹ Id. CP 545 - 547 (Ames Dec. 5/14/13), CP 548 - 550 (Ames Dec. 6/13/13), CP 556 - 558 (Ames Dec. 7/2/13) CP 571 - 575 (Ames Dec. 7/19/13), CP 576 - 606 (Richmond Dec). CP 544 to 672 is what the prosecutor's office actually disclosed. There is only one declaration from a DPA, and it is Richmond's declaration from July 17th, 2013. The prosecutors added the orders from the *Dalsing* case at Det Ames' request.

² CP 141, CP 635 - 671 (Coopersmith Report).

³ Dalsing v. Pierce County, Supreme Court Case No: 90173-2

correlation to these proceedings. CP 2024 - 2041. The public commented. CP 2059 - 2063. The crux of importance here is that Det. Ames never had probable cause to link Dalsing to the photograph that formed the basis of criminal charges against her. CP 769. He documented this in an e-mail received by the involved prosecutors, who did not immediately release her.⁴ CP 82, 118 - 119. The criminal prosecutors never gave Dalsing's criminal defense attorney Ames' e-mail, even after saying the prosecutor was obligated to do so. CP 119, 128. They also delayed producing the key photograph. CP 129.⁵ Dalsing remained incarcerated for approximately seven months on charges the prosecutors could not prove, which is the basis for her civil complaint. CP 537 - 542.

The trial court correctly explains the "Dalsing Declarations" in its memorandum opinion, with one exception. CP 769. At line 23, the trial court writes DPA Richmond "disputes" getting the e-mails from Det. Ames. The trial court relied upon Richmond's declaration from

⁴ "Lead Detective: Mike, Howdy you fabulous computer guy...Both the bad men in this case have pled guilty - one will go away for life??!! The female is not being so smart. Pros. are wondering if you were able to tell if Lynn Dalsing had any type of account or files on the computers so we can charge her with the possession also? Thanks Grammy Det. Ames: No, it appeared that he was the computer person. There is no way you can get by the defense that she will use which will be it was him and especially now that he is pleading to it. I could easily link him to the child porn but not her. No way do I want to go back into that case to look for something that I cannot prove. Definately no link to her and the child porn other than that one picture but we can't see her so no way to prove that either. I did look hard at the porn that was downloaded from the internet and nothing leads back to her. I did look at that angle too especially after I found that one picture...." App. 18 at APP56. CP 82 - 84, 119.

⁵ A chronology detailing the prosecutor's history of nondisclosures with excerpts from the *Dalsing* record is at CP 1641 - 1943.

Dalsing that declares Richmond did not get the e-mails.⁶ After entry of the 12(b)(6) order, DPA Richmond files a new declaration in this case substantially modifying his previous *Dalsing* declaration to now admit he did indeed get the e-mails Det. Ames truthfully said he gave Richmond.⁷ CP 1587 - 1589,

Richmond is still adamant that he never told Ames' his e-mail was "exculpatory" or that it would be turned over. CP 299, 1588. What Richmond recalls saying about the exculpatory character of the e-mails does not mean Ames' recollection is dishonest. Many other local attorneys, fearful of the chilling effect of this case, believe the e-mails were "positive exculpatory evidence" or "Brady" material. CP 1405 - 1410. Ironically, the Richmond declaration is not.

Coopersmith Report Not PIE

On February 25th, 2013, five days after Ames' attorney contacted the prosecutor's office about appearing independently for Det. Ames in the *Dalsing* matter, Pierce County started a whistleblower investigation into a

⁶ "Mr. Ames' reply declaration in support of his motion to compel payment of his attorney's fees and costs contains false assertions made under oath about Mr. Ames' interactions with the prosecutor's office." "Mr. Ames falsely states he turned over to me County e-mails that would "clear his name and his department." CP 13. Richmond Dec. Opposing Fees 07/17/13. The trial court reached the same erroneous conclusion relying on Richmond's Dec. in its order on Pierce County's Motion to Strike: "Ames made a motion for attorney's fees and in his supporting declaration alleged that he provided the emails to Richmond and was told the emails would be disclosed. Richmond disputes this in his own declaration, claiming he never received the emails and never told Ames the emails would be disclosed." CP 740.

⁷ Contrary to petitioner's repeated claims in the current case, I have never denied receiving the June 9, 2011, email. Instead, I stated that it was not given to me at the the October 12, 2012 meeting." CP 1588,

complaint received from Det. Ames that involved the Prosecuting Attorney. CP 637, 344 - 398. While Det. Ames requested an outside criminal investigation, Pierce County chose to keep Ames' complaint in house and treated it instead as a whistleblower complaint. CP 99 - 100. Det. Ames' report questions the propriety of Lindquist's press release in a declined child abuse case. CP 346, 369. The press release suggests Det. Ames compromised the prosecution by taking video into evidence from counsel who had previously represented him. CP 98, 346, 371. Det. Ames also complained about Lindquist surreptitiously searching his e-mail. CP 346, 361. The County hired Jeff Coopersmith, a Seattle attorney, who prepared an expensive report that the prosecutor's office received on May 29, 2013. CP 635. Coopersmith concluded Lindquist's conduct could be motivated by reasons other than retaliation; and therefore Ames' complaint in his opinion was an unfounded whistleblower retaliation complaint. CP 658. Coopersmith did not conclude Det. Ames was in any way dishonest. In fact, his investigation showed Lindquist did issue a press release with reference to Det. Ames, admittedly not by name; and that Lindquist was involved in a surreptitious examination of Det. CP 371, 1872, 1877. Coopersmith did not identify any Ames' e-mail. wrongdoing by Det. Ames. CP 652. In fact, he found Det. Ames was properly fulfilling his duties.8

⁸ The Sheriff's Department never initiated any internal affairs investigation against Ames for any misconduct related to these matters. CP 673 - 674.

Det. Ames served successfully for many years as Pierce County's certified criminal forensic computer examiner. CP 1 -2, 114, 493-494. After the trial court dismissed his petition and denied him any avenue of relief, he retired to mitigate against the ongoing retaliation he is experiencing. CP 114, 1113. The prosecutors were limiting his case assignments. The prosecutors quit supporting him in defense interviews. CP 1289 - 1295. The prosecutors scrutinized his reports, looking for any means to damage his favorable reputation. CP 1113. Despite his retirement, he still expects to be called to testify in pending cases with the prosector's office. Id. Det. Ames is in his fifties and has several years left in his career. His reputation as a credible forensic examiner effects his employability outside the office.

Det. Ames believes the prosecutors now consider him a "Brady" officer for retaliatory reasons. CP 81-82. Certain facts show a correlation. For instance, the timing of their decision closely approximates his actions to reveal exculpatory evidence they erroneously withheld in the *Dalsing* case. CP 188, 192 - 197. On August 5th, 2013, the *Dalsing* civil court entered a judgment in Ames' favor against the prosecutor's office for discovery violations. CP 198. The next month, Ames received their "Brady" letter, identifying as PIE select declarations that led to the judgment against the prosecutor's office. CP 141. They also reached back in time and added the County's whistleblower investigation report from

May. Id. and CP 485. This was not a report the prosecutors chose to treat as PIE when they got it. CP 92, 287 - 291. In fact, Ames testified in a criminal case after the report came out and before they declared it PIE. Id. The fact that the prosecutor's office chose to "Brady" list Det. Ames and not the other Pierce County detective accused of wrongdoing in the Dalsing case also appears suspicious. CP 4, 590 - 595.

The Prosecutor's "Brady" letter and the actions the prosecutor's office promises to take to discredit Det. Ames led him to seek a judicial remedy to clear his name. Det. Ames hoped to have an opportunity for meaningful discovery, and a name clearing hearing to show the deceptive and retaliatory nature of the prosecutor's PIE materials. The trial court denied him this opportunity when it dismissed his case on the pleadings.

Det. Ames' does not omit any necessary elements to declaratory relief or to a writ in his petition. CP 1-11. The trial court's opinion order shows the trial court had no trouble identifying the necessary elements. CP 768 - 775. The trial court dismissed on the pleadings, deciding there was "no justiciable controversy and no major public concern with regard to the disclosure of potential impeachment evidence...." CP 766. The trial court decided "declaratory relief here would do nothing to help Ames". CP 766. Det. Ames disagrees with the trial court's opinion, and requests reversal.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. De Novo Review - Facts in Complaint and Hypothetical Facts
Outside the Record Presumed True

Appellate review of a declaratory judgment action follows customary principles. City of Longview v. Wallin, 174 Wn. App. 763, 301 P.3d 45 (2013). The court reviews the trial court's order of dismissal under 12(b)(6) de novo. FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 840, 309 P.3d 555 (2013).

A complaint may not be dismissed when any facts consistent with the complaint would entitle the plaintiff to relief. Id. at 866. The allegations pled in the complaint must be considered true. The trial court disregarded this standard when, among other concerns, it reasoned in this case of first impression that the prosecutor and Det. Ames had common interests in Det. Ames' credibility. CP at 774 L 8 - 11. The distinct problem here concerns the prosecutor's office retaliating against a detective, who is speaking out against the prosecutor. The facts here are contrary to what typically appears as mutual interests in criminal matters, presenting instead as genuine opposing interests between the parties needed for the declaratory relief requested. "Any hypothetical situation conceivably raised by the complaint defeats a CR 12(b)(6) motion if it is legally sufficient to support plaintiff's claim." *Bravo v. Dolsen Companies*, 125 Wn.2d 745, 750, 888 P.2d 147 (1995). Even hypothetical

situations not a part of the formal record may be introduced to "assist the court in establishing the "conceptual backdrop" against which the challenge to the legal sufficiency of the claim is considered." Id. at 750.

Here the trial court erred when it failed to assume the prosecutor is retaliating and interfering with Det. Ames rights as a represented civil servant. Det. Ames' good name and reputation are at stake. The prosecutor is abusing his power, specifically his obligations under "Brady," for retaliatory reasons by allowing his office to make up false accusations of dishonesty. The prosecutor's abuse requires judicial intervention to arrest the miscarriage of justice.

With regard to the writ of prohibition, writs of prohibition are reviewed for abuse of discretion when actually considered. *In re King County Hearing Examiner*, 135 Wn. App. 312, 144 P.3d 345 (2006). The trial court did not consider the writ; thus, the standard of review is the de novo standard applicable to dismissal on the pleadings.

De novo review similarly applies to the legal issues Det. Ames raises regarding the prosecutor's special motion to strike. City of Longview, 174 Wn. App. at 776. Whether the Legislature violated the constitution when adopting the statute without setting forth in full the existing statutory remedies subject to amendment is a legal issue requiring interpretation and application of Wash. Const. art. II § 37. Whether the statute specifically exempts cases involving the prosecutor enforcing laws

aimed at public protection is a straightforward application of common law principles governing statutory construction. The Court applies a de novo standard of review in this case.

B. Fact Development Needed to Correctly Ascertain the Rights of the Parties and the Propriety of the Relief Requested

CR 12(b)(6) motions are disfavored and are to be granted only "sparingly and with care." *Bravo v. Dolsen Companies*, 125 Wn. 2d 745, 750, 888 P.2d 147 (1995). Summary dismissal on the pleadings is only appropriate when "it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts, consistent with the complaint, which would entitle the plaintiff to relief." Id. The court must be able to say that, no matter what facts are proven within the context of the claim, the plaintiffs would not be entitled to relief. *Haberman v. WPPSS*, 109 Wn. 2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987).

The trial court did not legitimately make this requisite determination because to do so, the trial court must find criminal defendants have a superior right to false accusations of dishonesty than a civil servant's rights to clear his good name. This case presents precisely the balancing of competing interests declaratory relief was designed to address; thus it is the exact remedy that Det. Ames should be using to stop the misconduct before further harm results. The risks at stake are the discrediting of a valued well experienced public servant as well as the harm of disjointed and inconsistent determinations discrediting Det. Ames

on a case by case basis. The criminal courts have no opportunity for fact finding on this important collateral issue and varying results raises questions of fairness or equal protection.

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