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

numerous instances even where significant public issues are present. E.g., 

Walker, 124 Wn.2d at 414 -26 ( rejecting application of exception to allow

challenge to initiative' s constitutionality); League ofEducation Voters v. 

State, 176 Wn.2d 808, 820, 295 P. 3d 743 ( 2013) ( same, noting that

exception was also inapplicable where dispute was not ripe). See also, 

Bercier v. Kiga, 127 Wn. App. 809, 822, 103 P. 3d 232 ( 2004), review

denied, 155 Wn.2d 1015 ( 2005) ( dispute over tobacco taxation by tribe as

to member of another tribe not an issue ofmajor public importance). 

Ames relies principally upon the case of Lane v. Frank, U.S. 

134 S. Ct. 2369, 189 L. Ed.2d 312 ( 2014) for his belated argument

that declaratory relief standing rules do not apply to him. Br. of Appellant

at 32. But, as in his practice in this case, he misstates the holding in the

case. Lane is not a standing case. Rather, Lane is an employment case in

which a college employee was compelled to testify at a trial involving

criminal charges against a state representative under subpoena. The

employee was later terminated and sued the college under 42 U.S. C. § 
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1983. At issue in the case was whether the employee' s testimony

constituted protected First Amendment speech, i.e. whether it was a

comment in his professional or personal capacity on a matter of public

concern
28

Here, Ames' activities do not meet the public importance test

articulated by this Court in WNG or Vovos, nor is his dispute ripe as

required by Walker, given his action in the George hearing before Judge

Chushcoff. Ultimately, the real public importance of the case has little to

do with Ames and more to do with the public policy of Brady, as the trial

court concluded: " Ames alleges that the conduct of the Prosecutor is of

major public concern. The major public concern does not have to do with

Ames however. The public concern regarding PIE is a fair trial for

criminal defendants, not the person whose credibility is being questioned." 

CP 775. 

The trial court was correct in dismissing Ames' petition under CR

12(b)(6) because he did not state claims for a writ of prohibition or

declaratory relief. 

28 Ames' citation to the Noerr- Pennington doctrine, br. of appellant at 39- 40, is

equally unavailing to him. Again, he never raised this argument below in resisting the
County' s CR 12( b)( 6) motion. CP 692 -95. That doctrine has nothing to do with
standing, but instead deals with immunity from antitrust liability. Manistee Town Center
v. City of Glendale, 227 F.3d 1090, 1092 ( 9th Cir. 2000). Ames actually attempts to
mislead this Court in the quotation from the case in his brief at 39 by omitting the
reference to antitrust liability. 
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2) The Trial Court Erred in Denying the County' s Motion to
Strike Ames' Petition under the Anti-SLAPP Statute29

The trial court here denied the County' s RCW 4.24.525(4) motion

to strike, finding the Office' s decision to disseminate PIE materials as to

Ames did not constitute an action involving public participation and

petition under RCW 4.24.525(4). CP 747 -49. The court treated public

participation and petition as narrowly confined to First Amendment -type

activities, ruling that Ames' effort to curtail the Office' s dissemination of

PIE materials did not meet that requirement. Id. The trial court was

incorrect. 

a) The County Was Entitled to Relief Under RCW
424.525

RCW 4.24.525( 4)(a)
30

provides that "[ a] party may bring a special

motion to strike any claim that is based on an action involving public

participation" as defined in the section. The legislative findings in

connection with the enactment include the following: 

L] awsuits, called " Strategic Lawsuits Against Public

Participation" or " SLAPPs," are typically dismissed as
groundless or unconstitutional, but often not before the

29 The anti -SLAPP statute constitutes an alternate basis upon which this Court
can affirm the trial court' s decision to dismiss and award fees to the County. See n.23, 
supra. The County is also entitled to the penalties provided in RCW 4.24.525( 6), 
including an award of attorney fees. 

3o The Washington statute " shall be applied and construed liberally to effectuate
its general purpose ofprotecting participants in public controversies from an abusive use
of the courts." Laws of 2010, ch. 118, § 3; Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc., 738 F. 
Supp.2d 1104, 1110 ( W.D. Wash. 2010). 
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defendants are put to great expense, harassment, and

interruption of their productive activities; 

Laws of 2010, ch. 118, § 1( b). The special motion to strike is designed to

promote early termination of litigation without subjecting defendants to

great expense, harassment and interruption of their productive activities." 

Id. For this reason, the statute directs that discovery is stayed and the

motion to strike be decided first. 

The phrase " an action involving public participation" is

specifically defined by RCW 4.24.525( 2) and nowhere excludes

government speakers, or governmental entities making constitutionally- 

protected expressions; that definition is broad. 

When municipalities engage in internal investigations or make

complaints about other municipal or county employees, the statute applies. 

Henne v. City of Yakima, 177 Wn. App. 583, 589, 313 P.3d 1188 ( 2013), 

review granted, 179 Wn.2d 1022 ( 2014); Castello v. City ofSeattle, 2010

WL 4857022 ( W.D. Wash. 2010) ( disciplinary proceedings including the

investigation of allegations, the presentation of charges, pre - disciplinary

meetings, the appeals process, internal emails to co- workers all constitute

proceedings "). 
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California authority also supports the application of our anti - 

SLAPP law to government speakers. 31 In Bradbury v. Superior Court, 49

Cal. App. 4th 1108, 1117, ( Cal. App. 1996), review denied, ( 1997), the

court held that a prosecutor' s anti -SLAPP motion should have been

granted against a sheriff s deputy who sued a prosecutor, after the

prosecutor investigated the deputy' s involvement in a drug arrest that

culminated in the defendant' s death. The prosecutor issued a report that

questioned the deputy' s veracity in connection with an affidavit filed in

support of the search warrant. The California Supreme Court held that the

anti -SLAPP statute applied to government speakers. Id. 

While the purpose of RCW 4.24.525 is to prevent the filing of

lawsuits designed " primarily to chill a defendant' s exercise of First

Amendment rights," City ofSeattle v. Egan, 179 Wn. App. 333, 337, 317

P. 3d 568 ( 2014), the trial court here too narrowly interpreted what

constitutes an action involving public participation, focusing explicitly on

the First Amendment basis for anti -SLAPP actions and failing to take

cognizance of the statute' s specific language. The trial court concluded

31 California's SLAPP statute was the model for Washington' s statute. Aronson, 
738 F. Supp. 2d at 1110; City ofLongview v. Wallin, 174 Wn. App. 763, 776 n. 11, 301
P.3d 45, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1020 ( 2013); Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, 

LLC, 179 Wn. App. 41, 69 n.21, 316 P.3d 1119 ( 2014), review granted, 180 Wn.2d 1009
2014). 
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that free speech or public participation was not implicated when PIE was

involved: 

By labeling the evidence as " potential impeachment evidence," 

Pierce County is not making an assertion or speech as to the
truthfulness or credibility of Ames; it is only satisfying the
prosecution' s constitutional duty to provide PIE to criminal
defendants. 

The goals of the First Amendment are not infringed here. The

information would still need to be disseminated based on Brady, 
thus leaving interpretation of the documents open to public
opinion. 

CP 748 -49. 

RCW 4.24.525( 2)( a -c) specifically address any oral and written

communications in judicial proceedings.
32

The written materials here that

the Office ultimately concluded constituted PIE were communications

with a court in George that Ames' lawsuit was designed to prevent. 

The declarations of Ames and the deputy prosecutor in Dalsing

which were later provided in discovery in George) and the Penner letter

were written statements submitted in connection with an issue under

consideration in a judicial proceeding, namely the Dalsing fee hearing. 

Thereafter, the declarations as well as the Coopersmith Report ( tendered

for in camera review in George) were documents submitted in a judicial

32 California authority specifically recognizes that communicative conduct in
litigation such as the filing, funding, or prosecution of a lawsuit, and acts by attorneys in
representing clients in court are subject to the anti -SLAPP statute. Rusheen v. Cohen, 37
Cal. 4th 1048, 1056, 128 P.3d 713 ( Cal. 2006). 
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proceeding under RCW 4.24.525(2). Ames' action was designed to chill

their communication, e.g., CP 2 -6 ( Petition ( f 3. 1, 3. 2, 3. 3, 3. 8, 4. 1, 4.3, 

4.4, 5.2)), thus meeting the statutory definition of " an action involving

public participation and petition." 

As noted above, RCW 4.24.525(4)( a) provides that once a

respondent meets its initial burden of showing that the claim is based on

an action involving public participation and petition, " the burden shifts to

the responding party to establish by clear and convincing evidence a

probability of prevailing on the claim." Ames did not meet this burden

because ( 1) the Office acted within its jurisdiction when making PIE

disclosures, and a writ of prohibition does not apply to allegedly

erroneous actions; ( 2) there is no justiciable controversy because the

requested judgment would affect the rights of current and future

defendants in criminal cases who are not parties here; ( 3) DPA Penner

and others handling criminal felony cases represented the State, and the

County was not a proper party to this writ action; and (4) the court lacked

jurisdiction to bind other superior courts in which Ames might be called

as a witness in a criminal case and where the relief sought would be

inadmissible as an impermissible comment by the court on credibility. 

Wash. Const., art. IV, § 16. 
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The award of damages and sanctions under RCW 4.24.525( 6)( a) is

mandatory by its terms where it states that the court shall award fees, a

penalty of $10,000, and: 

iii) Such additional relief, including sanctions upon the
responding party and its attorneys or law firms, as the
court determines to be necessary to deter repetition of the
conduct and comparable conduct by others similarly
situated. 

emphasis added). The trial court erred in failing to award the County its

attorney fees and costs, as well as statutory $10,000 damages. 

b) RCW 4.24.525( 3) Does Not Offer Ames a Defense

Apparently anticipating the County' s argument that it is entitled to

relief under RCW 4.24. 525(4), Ames also asserts that the County was not

entitled to relief under RCW 4.24.525( 4) because prosecutors are

specifically exempted from the anti-SLAPP law by RCW 4.24.525 ( 3). 

Br. of Appellant at 47 -48. The trial court rejected this argument, noting

that " none of the documents were created to enforce a criminal law and

the dissemination of the documents is to protect a criminal defendant' s

constitutional rights, not the public." CP 745. Specifically, the Dalsing

documents at issue in this case involved a fee request by Ames in a civil

case and the Coopersmith Report was not the Office' s product. CP 744. 
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California' s anti -SLAPP
1aw33

contains a similar exemption to that

of RCW 4.24.525( 3). See Cal. Code Civ. Pro. § 425. 16(d). Under that

provision, prosecutors bringing criminal charges are exempted from anti- 

SLAPP liability. Miller v. Filter, 150 Cal. App. 4th 652, 671, 58 Cal. 

Rptr. 3d 671 ( 2007). See also, Jones v. City ofYakima Police Dept, 2012

WL 1899228 ( E.D. Wash. 2012) ( routine law enforcement activities not

protected by RCW 4.24.525). That provision has withstood scrutiny on

equal protection grounds. People v. Health Laboratories ofN. Amer., Inc., 

87 Cal. App 4th 442, 450 -52, 104 Cal. Rptr. 2d 618 ( 2001). 

Here, there was no action brought by the Office to " enforce laws

aimed at public protection" for purposes ofRCW 4.24.525. The trial court

was correct in ruling that RCW 4.24. 525( 3) did not foreclose the County' s

motion under RCW 4.24.525(4). 

c) RCW 4.24.525 Is Constitutional

Ames finally contends that RCW 4.24.525 is unconstitutional

under article II § 37.
34

Br. of Appellant at 48 -50. His argument is

33 As noted supra, California' s case law on its anti -SLAPP statute is persuasive
authority as to Washington' s law. 

34
Ames argued below that RCW 4. 24. 525 violated his First Amendment rights

to petition the government for redress of grievances. CP 69 -70. Washington courts have
rejected that constitutional argument in Davis v. Cox, 180 Wn. App. 514, 325 P.3d 255
2014), as have numerous other courts in upholding the constitutionality of their states' 

anti -SLAPP statutes. See, e.g., Anderson Dev. Co. v. Tobias, 116 P.3d 323, 338 ( Utah
2005) ( bill of attainder); Home -town Props., Inc. v. Fleming, 680 A.2d 56, 60 (R.I. 1996) 
numerous grounds, including separation of powers and access); Sandholm v. Kuecker, 

Brief ofRespondent/ Cross - Appellant - 44



meritless35 and flies in the face of the strong presumption favoring

constitutionality of legislative enactments.
36

RCW 4.24.525 does not

violate article II, § 37. 

It appears to be Ames' contention that SB 6395, enacted by the

Legislature in 2010, failed to " cross- reference" RCW 4.24.510, RCW

7. 16, or RCW 7.24 as to penalties. Br. of Appellant at 49 -50. In allowing

for the penalties in RCW 4.24.525( 6), the Legislature was not required to

amend every statute that created a cause of action that might be subject to

those penalties, as Ames seems to suggest. 

962 N.E.2d 418, 434 -35 ( Ill. 2012) ( numerous grounds); Lee v. Pennington, 830 So.2d

1037 ( La. App. 2002) writ denied, 836 So.2d 52 ( La. 2003) ( equal protection and due

process); Lafayette Morehouse, Inc. v. Chronicle Publ'g Co., 37 Cal. App. 4th 855, 44
Cal. Rptr. 2d 46 ( 1995), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 809 ( 1996) ( equal protection). 

California' s Supreme Court found that its anti -SLAPP statute " does not bar a

plaintiff from litigating an action that arises out of the defendant' s free speech or
petitioning" and " subjects to potential dismissal only those causes of action to which the
plaintiff is unable to show a probability of prevailing on the merits." Equilon Enters. v. 

Consumer Cause, Inc., 29 Cal
4a` 

53, 62 -64, 52 P.3d 685 ( Cal. 2002). The anti- SLAPP

statute " provides an efficient means of dispatching, early on in a lawsuit, [ and

discouraging, insofar as fees may be shifted,] a plaintiffs meritless claims." Id. It

rejected an argument that a party must intend to chill the 1st Amendment rights of
another. 

Ames now confines his constitutional contentions to article II, § 37. 

35 Ames and Mell knew this argument was baseless as it had been advanced by
Mell in another case and rejected. CP 1040 -41. 

36 "[
S] tatutes are presumed constitutional and [] a statute's challenger ... must

prove that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." Sch. Dists. 

AllianceforAdequate Funding ofSpecial Educ. v. State, 170 Wn.2d 599, 605, 244 P. 3d 1
2010) ( emphasis added). 
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This Court rejected a similar argument as to Washington' s " three

strikes" law in State v. Thorne, 129 Wn.2d 736, 921 P.2d 514 ( 1996), 

abrogated on other grounds by Blakley v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124

S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed.2d 403 ( 2004). The initiative provided for

incarceration for life upon conviction for the third of certain enumerated

felonies. The appellants contended that each of the statutes pertaining to

the enumerated felonies had to be amended to reflect the potential for a

life sentence upon the third conviction. Id. at 753. This Court rejected

this contention, stating that the initiative was " complete in itself." Id. at

754. 

RCW 4.24.525, the essence of SB 6395, is similarly self-contained. 

It defines the claims to which it applies in subsection ( 1)( a). Ames' 

assertion that every statute setting forth a cause of action must also be

amended to satisfy article II, § 37 is simply frivolous in light of Thorne. 

In sum, the trial court erred in denying the County relief under

RCW 4.24.525, particularly in light of its decision on the County' s CR

12( b)( 6) motion, dismissing Ames' baseless complaint. 

3) Ames Failed to Timely Seek Review of the Trial Court's
Decision to Deny Him Penalties/Fees Under RCW

4.24.525(6)( b) 
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Ames vaguely asserts in his brief at 48 that he is entitled to recover

penalties and attorney fees under RCW 4.24.525( 6)( b). If the Court

reaches the issue,37 Ames failed to preserve it by not timely seeking

review of the trial court' s December 31, 2013 anti -SLAPP ruling.
38

Nothing prevented Ames from filing a notice of appeal as to the

trial court' s December 31, 2013 anti -SLAPP ruling to obtain penalties and

fees afforded by that statute when he was aggrieved within the meaning of

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